
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

October 18, 2016  5:30 pm 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Phil Boyum 
 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to Approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 09-28-2016 Called Council Minutes 
b) 10-04-2016 Council Minutes 

 
5. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Alcohol License Applications: 

A)  Eagle Creek Brewing Company LLC  
      John Franklin Dismuke 
      106 Savannah Avenue 
      Statesboro, Ga. 
 
B) Shenanigans  
      James Peery (New Owner)  
      1 University Plaza 
       Statesboro, Ga. 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # DSDA 
16-09-001: First Baptist Church of Statesboro requests the demolition of a structure 
located at 24 East Olliff Street, a property located within the boundaries of the 
Downtown District. Article XXX Section 3003 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 
requires a finding of necessity for the demolition of structures deemed worthy of 
preservation by City Council (Tax Parcel # S27 000045 000). 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # DSDA 
16-09-002: First Baptist Church of Statesboro requests the demolition of a structure 
located at 206 Oak Street, a property located within the boundaries of the Downtown 
District. Article XXX Section 3003 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance requires a 
finding of necessity for the demolition of structures deemed worthy of preservation by 
City Council (Tax Parcel # S28 000001 000). 
 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # DSDA 
16-09-003: The Downtown Statesboro Development Authority requests the demolition of 
a structure located at 9 West Inman Street (listed as 11 West Inman Street), a property 
located within the boundaries of the Downtown District. Article XXX Section 3003 of 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance requires a finding of necessity for the demolition of 



 
 

structures deemed worthy of preservation by City Council (Tax Parcel # S19 000040 
000). 
 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # CUV 16-
08-01: Justine Taylor requests a conditional use variance from Article V of the Statesboro 
Zoning Ordinance for .34 acres of property located at 18 Carmel Drive to utilize the 
property as a community living arrangement facility (Tax Parcel # S51 000064A 000). 
 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # V 16-08-
02: John Ray Hendley requests a variance from Article XV (Signs) Section 1509(C) 
Table 3 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the minimum 5’ setback 
requirement for a sign located at 30 West Inman Street (Tax Parcel # S19 000050 000). 
 

11. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # SUB 16-
09-01: RDJ, LLC requests preliminary plat approval for an 83-lot subdivision for phases 
II and III of the Whispering Pines subdivision (Tax Parcel # MS42 000008 000). 

 
12. Consideration of a Motion to Approve ORDINANCE 2016-09; An Ordinance regarding 

water and sewer billing, termination of service for nonpayment, and billing adjustments. 
(Fee Credit for elderly/low income) 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to Approve ORDINANCE 2016-10: An Ordinance Amending 
Chapter 66 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Solid Waste)  (Fee Credit for 
elderly/low income) 
 

14. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Ordinance 2016-11: An Ordinance Amending 
Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 (Administration) of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances. (Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board) 

 

15. Consideration of a Motion to Approve an Intergovernmental Agreement between the City 
and the DSDA for the use of a city vehicle. 

 
16. Other Business from City Council 

 
17. City Managers Comments 

 
18. Public Comments (General) 

 
19. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Called Council Minutes 

September 28, 2016 

 
A Called meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on September 28th, 2016 at 5:30p.m. 
in the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn and John Riggs.  Also present were City Manager Randy 
Wetmore, City Clerk Sue Starling and City Attorney Alvin Leaphart. Absent were Councilman 
Travis Chance and Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire. 
 
The meeting was called to Order by Mayor Jan Moore 

 
The Invocation was given by Allen Muldrew and the Pledge of Allegiance was led by 
Councilman John Riggs 
 
A Public Presentation by City Consultant Retail Strategies Group on their recent study 
findings  
 
Mayor Moore introduced Joe Strauss with the Retail Strategies Group. Mr. Strauss gave an 
overview as he presented statics and charts of how the company searches and recruits new 
businesses for different areas.  He also stated the company serves such areas as Rincon, 
LaGrange and Downtown Augusta. 

Mayor Moore stated the City’s expense for this company’s services was $72,000.00 over a 3 
year period. The plan started in 2013. 

Citizens as well as business owners were present.  Nick Propps, Jim Thibodeau, and Per Holtze 
were also present as they joined in the discussion to ask questions of Mr. Strauss. 

Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn and Riggs voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:20 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 
October 04, 2016 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on October 4, 2016 at 9:00 am in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall.  Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Travis Chance.  Also Present was City 
Manager Randy Wetmore, Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart 
and City Clerk Sue Starling. 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan Moore. 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilman Travis Chance. 
 
Mayor Moore gave a statement and read from a press release made by the GBI regarding an 
incident that happened near Georgia Southern early this morning. The incident resulted in the 
death of an individual. Mayor Moore stated that once it was determined that a fatality had 
occurred, the involved officer was placed on administrative leave and Deputy Chief Bryan, 
immediately contacted the GBI who then took over the investigation.  This will be the only 
statement made by the City of Statesboro at this time. 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations 

A) Recognitions of the Statesboro Area SHRM for being named the “2016 Best 
in Georgia- Chapter of the Year. 

 
Mayor Moore recognized the Statesboro Area SHRM for being named the “2016 Best in Georgia 
Chapter of the year”. President Curtis Woody and President Elect Charlene Powell representing 
SHRM, as well as City of Statesboro Human Resource Director Jeff Grant, who was past 
President of SHRM was present for the recognition. 
 

B) Proclamation presented to Channie Frazier for winner of the Georgia Pre-K 
Teacher of the Year Award 

 
Mayor Moore stated this presentation will be done at a later Council Meeting. 
 

C) Recognition of Alex Smith, County Coordinator for Concerted Services, Inc., 
with an update on the utility discount program. 

 
Alex Smith gave an update on the utility discount program.  He asked Council if they would 
consider increasing the percentage of the Federal poverty guideline from 100 percent to 125 
percent.  He explained, in doing so, we would be able to help more individuals who would not 
otherwise get the discount and it would be in line with our other assistance programs. Mayor 
Moore asked City Attorney Alvin Leaphart to prepare the required documents for the next 
Council meeting 



 
 

 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent agenda: 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 09-20-2016 Council Minutes 

B) Consideration of a Motion to approve and to authorize the Mayor to sign 
Fiscal Year 2016 Homeland Security Grant Program/State Homeland 
Security Program Agreement between the State of Georgia Emergency 
Management and Homeland Security Agency and City of Statesboro Fire 
Department; Grant No: SH16-044. 

 
Councilman Yawn made a motion seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve the Consent 
Agenda in its entirety.  Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of 
the motion.  The motion carried with a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Professional Services Agreement and Task Order 
1 with Ecological Planning Group, LLC in the amount of $72,040.00 to assist the City with 
Storm Water Master planning.  
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the Professional 
Services Agreement and Task Order 1 with Ecological Planning Group, LLC in the amount of 
$72,040.00 to assist the City with Storm Water Master planning. Councilman Boyum, Jones, 
Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion.  The motion carried with a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to authorize the Mayor to enter into appropriate contracts or 
agreements to form sister-city relationships with Grottaferrata and Monte Compatri Italy 
with the caveat that such agreements or contracts shall not impose more than $1500.00 of 
costs on the City of Statesboro.  
 
Councilman Jones seconded by Councilman Riggs to authorize the Mayor to enter into 
appropriate contracts or agreements to form sister-city relationships with Grottaferrata and 
Monte Compatri Italy with the caveat that such agreements or contracts shall not impose more 
than $1500.00 of costs on the City of Statesboro. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion.  The motion carried with a 5-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council: None 
 
City Managers Comments: 

A) Update from Director of Human Resources Jeff Grant regarding the City of 
Statesboro Workers Comp and Safety Program 

 
City Manager Randy Wetmore stated Director of Human Resources Jeff Grant has a presentation 
on the City of Statesboro Workers Comp and Safety Program.  
Director of Human Resources Jeff Grant gave a slide presentation regarding the past three years 
of the City of Statesboro Worker Comp claims and costs.  Mr. Grant stated we have been 
working to reduce the amount of claims.  In order to make this a joint effort, a safety advisory 



 
 

committee was formed, which is made up of individuals from all departments to get suggestions 
and ideas to ensure a safe working environment. 
 
Public Comments (General) 

A) Bill Thomas request to speak with Council 
 
Mr. Thomas was not at the meeting to speak. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion seconded by Councilman Riggs to adjourn the meeting.  
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion.  The motion 
carried with a 5-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 10:00 am. 
 
 
    





























































































































































































 
 

ORDINANCE 2016-09 
REGARDING 

WATER AND SEWER BILLING, TERMINATION OF SERVICE FOR NONPAYMENT, 
AND BILLING ADJUSTMENTS 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have previously adopted an ordinance governing water 
and sewer billing and termination of service for nonpayment;  
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend section 82-70 of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
Section 1.   Section  82-70 (Billing; termination of water service for nonpayment of charges) of 
the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended by replacing it in full, 
and shall read as follows: 
 
Sec. 82-70. Billing; termination of water service for nonpayment of charges, billing adjustments, 
and elderly low income credit. 
 
(a) Billing. All fees shall be billed monthly as part of a combined utility bill, unless the user 
does not have another utility service. In that case, single bills shall be sent. All bills shall be sent 
out using the billing cycle and schedule for payment as determined by the mayor and city 
council.  
 
(b) Non-payment and termination of service. All bills not paid by the due date are subject to 
the late payment charge, and then immediate cut-off on the date printed on the bill, unless other 
arrangements are made pursuant to the water and sewer billing procedures referenced below in 
subsection (d).  
 
(c) New deposit required. In the event of non-payment and service cut-off, the customer 
must pay the bill in full, the late payment charge, a cut-off charge if applicable, and pay a deposit 
if it was either waived, previously refunded, or was used to make the payment, late payment 
charge, and/or the cut-off charge.  
 
(d) Adjustments. Except for adjustments made pursuant to below subparts (e) through (h), all 
adjustments to water and sewer bills shall be governed by the water and sewer billing procedures 
attached to Ordinance 2015-04 as Attachment A which may be amended from time to time by 
resolution of the Mayor and City Council. A copy of these water and sewer billing procedures 
contained in Attachment A and any subsequent resolutions amending these procedures shall be 
kept on file with the City Clerk for review by the public during the regular business hours of City 
Hall. A copy of these water and sewer billing procedures contained in Attachment A and any 
amendments can be obtained through an open records request. The water and sewer billing 
procedures shall be administrated by the city clerk or her designee. 



 
(e)   Establishment of elderly/low income credit.  There shall be established an elderly/low 
income credit (billing reduction) in an amount approved in the schedule of fees and charges 
approved by the Mayor and City Council. 
 
(f) Qualification. The elderly/low income credit shall be available to qualifying heads of 
households in whose name a residential water and/or sewer account is listed.  This elderly/low 
income credit shall not be available for residential accounts with a separate metered account for 
water used solely for irrigation purposes.  Qualifying heads of household must have an attained 
age of 65 years and must have a total household income not exceeding ONE HUNDERD AND 
TWENTY FIVE PERCENT (125%) of the poverty levels for the number of occupants in the 
household as derived from the guidelines of the State of Georgia Division of Aging Services. 
Eligibility for the elderly/low income credit shall be determined under City contract with a non-
profit community organization capable of screening applicants according to the established 
criteria and reporting eligibility to the Revenue Department. 
 
(g) Commencement.  The elderly/low income credit shall be effective upon receipt and 
approval of all required information as identified in the application.  Said credit shall be applied 
to the following month of collection service. 
 
(h) Term. The term of the elderly/low income credit shall be three years from approval and 
commencement of credit.  Continued eligibility shall be reestablished by application from the 
head of household. 
 
Section 2:  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 
 
Section 3:  This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 
  
 SO ORDAINED, this ___day of ____________ 2016 in Statesboro, Georgia.   
 
 
Reading:  October 18, 2016 
             
      __________________________________ 
      Jan J. Moore, in her capacity as Mayor of 
      Statesboro, Georgia. 
 
      ATTEST: 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Sue Starling, in her capacity as City Clerk of 
      Statesboro, Georgia. 
 



Ordinance #2016-10: 
An Ordinance Amending Chapter 66 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 

(Solid Waste) 
 
WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating solid waste; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend Chapter 66 (Solid Waste) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia to 
ensure efficient and responsive delivery of services: 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
Section 1. Chapter 66 (Solid Waste) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is 
hereby amended by replacing it in full, and shall read as follows:  
 
 
Article I. – IN GENERAL 
 
Sec. 66-1. – Definitions 
 
 For the purpose of this chapter, the following terms, phrases, words and their derivations 
shall have the meaning indicated herein. 
 
 Ashes means the residue from the burning of wood, coal, coke or other combustible 
materials. 
 
 Building material means any material including but not limited to materials such as 
lumber, roofing material, brick, concrete, plaster, flooring, plumbing materials, cabinets, doors, 
windows, gutters, sand, gravel or other substances used in repairs or alteration of existing 
buildings, construction of new buildings, or demolition of existing structures. 
 
 Bulk waste container means a metal container larger than eight cubic yards with an open 
top constructed so that it can be emptied mechanically by specially equipped trucks. 
 

Cart means a container not larger than 96 gallons, water tight with a lid opening on top 
and constructed so that it can be emptied mechanically by specially equipped trucks.   

 
 Collection area means an area designated by the city to be used for the placement and 
collection of refuse receptacles, collection containers or trash accumulations. 
 
 Collection container means a container provided by the city or approved by the director, 
or his/her representative, to be used for the collection and disposal of garbage. 
 
 Commercial garbage means garbage produced by any nonresidential unit or facility or 
non-industrial facility including stores, offices, restaurants, warehouses, and other similar uses. 
 



 Commercial solid waste means all garbage and other waste byproducts, including 
cinders and ashes from commercial boilers, cardboard and wooden boxes, crates and barrels, 
or other waste byproduct(s), generated by commercial or manufacturing establishments. 
 
 Composting means the controlled biological decomposition of organic matter into a 
stable, odor-free humus. 
 
 Dead animals means the carcasses or remains of cats, dogs, small household pets, and 
small farm animals. 
 
 Director shall mean the Public Works Director. 
 
 Disposal site means an area, location, tract of land or a facility used or intended to be 
used for the disposal of solid waste, decaying waste, hazardous waste or other waste, except it 
shall not include the land or facility used for the disposal of solid waste or other waste from a 
single-family dwelling in which the owner, occupant, or lessee of such land or facility resides. 
 

Dumpster means a metal container of not less than two cubic yards and not larger than 
eight cubic yards, water tight with a lid or lids opening on top and constructed so that it can be 
emptied mechanically by specially equipped trucks.   
 
 Garbage, household garbage or refuse means the by-product of animal or vegetable 
food resulting from the handling, preparation, cooking and consumption of food or other matter 
which is subject to decomposition, decay, putrefaction or the generation of noxious or offensive 
gases or odors, or which during or after decay may serve as breeding areas or feeding 
materials for flies, insects or animals. 
 
 Hazardous waste means materials including but not limited to materials such as poison, 
acids, caustic matter or solutions, chemical, infected materials, infectious carcass, fecal matter, 
explosives, sewage sludge, radioactive materials and highly flammable substances, oils, P.C.B., 
antifreeze, paints, solvents and cleaning fluids, dry cleaners, fuel tanks, biomedical waste, 
grease traps, batteries, oxidizers, and Freon/refrigerants or any other substance that has been 
defined by federal or state law as being hazardous refuse or material or which poses a similar 
and immediate danger or hazard to the public health, safety and welfare as the substances 
described herein. 
 

Household Trash means materials including waste accumulation of paper, sweepings, 
dust, rags, bottles, cans or other matter of any kind, other than garbage, which is usually 
attendant to housekeeping. 
 
 Industrial waste means all waste including solids, semi-solids, sludge and liquids, 
created by factories, processing plants or other manufacturing enterprises. 
 
 Junked vehicles means any discarded, dismantled, wrecked, scrapped, ruined, junked or 
inoperable automobile, truck or other vehicle, or vehicle which does not bear a current license 
plate or a current inspection sticker. 
 
 Litter means all garbage, refuse, waste material, sand, gravel, slag, brickbats, rubbish, 
tin cans, trash, debris, dead animals or any other discarded, used or unconsumed substance, 
which is not handled in accordance with the provisions of this article. 
 



 Loading and unloading area means a space or area used by any moving vehicle for the 
purpose of receiving, shipping, and transporting goods, wares, commodities and persons. 
 
 Reclamation means a controlled method of sorting solid waste for future use in 
accordance with a procedure approved by the director. 
 
 Recyclable materials means materials which otherwise would be garbage, commercial 
refuse, industrial refuse or rubbish but for the fact that it is usable and has commercial value. 
 
 Recycling means the process by which reclaimed materials are collected, separated or 
processed, and transformed into raw materials or products. 
 
 Residential garbage means garbage produced by any residential unit. 
 
 Refuse receptacle means a cart or poly-cart used for the automated collection of 
garbage. 
 
 Rubbish means waste including but not limited to materials such as waste paper, 
cartons, boxes, cans, glass, packing material, and material which is discarded, unusable or not 
being actively used or stored or allowed to be accumulated in an unsightly manner. 
 
 Scavenge or scavenging shall mean unauthorized or uncontrolled retrieval of discarded 
refuse materials. 
 
 Solid Waste means any waste including commercial garbage, residential garbage, 
rubbish, tree and shrubbery trimmings, and trash but does not include hazardous waste, 
industrial waste, or waste from mining, agricultural, or silvicultural operations. 
 
 Trash means appliances, metals, furniture, yard trash, or tree and shrubbery trimmings. 
 
 Tree and shrubbery trimmings shall mean waste accumulation of tree limbs, parts of 
trees, bushes, or shrubbery cuttings or clippings. 
 
 Yard trimmings or yard trash means grass, straw, leaves, shrubs, hedges, tree and 
shrubbery trimmings, or other natural waste. 
 
Sec. 66-2. – Collections by city. 
 

(a) Generally.  All solid waste and recyclable materials accumulated in the city shall be 
collected, conveyed, and disposed of by the city, except as otherwise expressly 
authorized herein or approved by the mayor and city council.  No person shall collect, 
convey over any streets or alleys of the city or dispose of any solid waste or recyclable 
materials accumulated in the city, except as expressly authorized herein or as allowed 
by pertinent and appropriate actions of the mayor and city council. 

(b) Supervision.  All solid waste accumulated in the city shall be collected, conveyed, and 
disposed of by the city under the supervision of the director, who shall prescribe the 
days and times of collection, and other such matters pertaining to the storage location, 
conveyance and disposal as is necessary. 

(c) Fees.  Fees, rates and charges for the collection services outlined in this article shall be 
as determined by the mayor and city council and on file in the office of the city clerk.  
Every residence, dwelling, business establishment or service agency within the limits of 



the city and to which garbage and solid waste collection and disposal services are 
available shall pay a fee for the availability of such service, regardless of whether the 
residence, business or agency used the service, and based upon a fee schedule 
approved by the mayor and city council. 

(d) Night collection.  Should the best interest of the public be served by collection of refuse 
from certain areas in the city at night, the city shall make such collections.  The 
occupants of all residences or places of business within the designated area shall be 
notified or may inquire as to the hours of such collection.  All persons so notified shall 
comply with such order and shall place the containers as designated within such hours. 

(e) Landlord’s responsibility.  All garbage collection charges to a complex of apartments, 
houses, mobile homes or businesses will be billed to the landlord of the property, and 
the landlord shall be responsible to the city for payment of assessed charges. 

 
Sec. 66-3. – Private collection. 
 
 No person or entity shall engage in the business of and receive compensation for the 
collection or disposal of garbage, solid waste, or recyclable materials of any kind within the city, 
unless otherwise explicitly stated herein. 
 
Sec. 66-4. – Refuse receptacles and collection containers required. 
 
 Every person or entity in possession, charge or control of any building from which 
garbage, trash, or other waste is accumulated or produced shall be required by this article to 
provide and keep in a suitable place, readily accessible to the city crews, refuse receptacles and 
collection containers suitable for the storage of all such waste materials which will normally 
accumulate between the established collection dates.  The director shall determine the quantity 
and location of such receptacles and shall determine whether such receptacles and containers 
are in a serviceable condition. 
 
Sec. 66-5. – Refuse receptacles and collection containers to be safe. 
 
 All refuse receptacles and collection containers, as required by this article, shall be of 
safe construction and design and shall be maintained in good, orderly and serviceable condition 
at all times.  Any receptacle or container which does not conform to the requirements of this 
article or which has ragged or sharp edges, or any other defects likely to hamper or injure the 
person collecting the contents therefrom or the public generally, shall be promptly replaced by 
the user thereof where such receptacles and containers are not provided by the city.  If such 
container, after appropriate notice, has not been replaced, the director shall have the right to 
suspend further collection of such waste material until such time as the container is brought into 
compliance with this article.  Where receptacles or containers are provided by the city the user 
shall promptly notify the director or sanitation superintendent of such sharp edges, defects, or 
other nonconformities. 
 
Sec. 66-6. – Fee schedule, billing, deposits and termination of service. 
 

(a) The fees and charges for the collection of trash, residential garbage, and commercial 
garbage; and the fees and charges for the disposal of solid waste through the transfer 
station and similar operations shall be established by resolution of the mayor and city 
council. 



(b) All fees shall be billed monthly as part of a combined utility bill, unless the user does not 
have another utility service.  In that case, single bills shall be sent. 

(c) There shall be a deposit equal to two months’ bills for any new collection customers or 
new solid waste disposal customers who open a monthly account with the city.  If the 
amount is unknown when service first begins, the first three months’ usage shall be 
averaged to determine the amount of the deposit required, and the deposit shall be 
added to the bill once it is determined.  The deposit may be waived if the customer can 
present a letter from a similar solid waste collection or disposal company, city, or other 
provider that indicates that the customer has paid its bills from such providers in a timely 
manner for at least the last 12 months of such similar service.  If a deposit is required it 
shall be refunded without interest upon termination of service by the customer and 
following payment in full of all outstanding charges. 

(d) All bills shall be sent out using the billing cycle and schedule for payments as 
determined by the mayor and city council. 

(e) All bills not paid by the due date are subject to the late payment charge, and then 
immediate cut-off on the date printed on the bill. 

(f) In the event of non-payment and service cut-off, the customer must pay the bill in full, 
the late payment charge, a cut-off charge if applicable, and pay a deposit if it was either 
waived, previously refunded, or was used to make the payment, late payment charge, 
and/or the cut-off charge.  The city manager is authorized to work out a payment plan for 
customers that demonstrate the ability to pay, but in no event shall such payment plan 
exceed 90 days before the customer’s account is totally current.  Such a payment plan 
can only be entered into once in a 12-month period.  Failure to meet any payment date 
of a payment plan shall terminate the payment plan, and the services shall be 
discontinued. 

 
Sec. 66-7. – Fee Credits. 
 

(a) Established.  There shall be established an elderly/low income credit (billing reduction) in 
an amount approved in the schedule of fees and charges approved by the Mayor and 
City Council. 

(b) Qualification. The elderly/low income credit shall be available to qualifying heads of 
households in whose name a residential inside-City garbage collection account is listed.  
Qualifying heads of household must have an attained age of 65 years and must have a 
total household income not exceeding ONE HUNDRED TWENTY FIVE PERCENT 
(125%) of the poverty levels for the number of occupants in the household as derived 
from the guidelines of the State of Georgia Division of Aging Services. Eligibility for the 
elderly/low income credit shall be determined under City contract with a non-profit 
community organization capable of screening applicants according to the established 
criteria and reporting eligibility to the Revenue Department. 

(c) Commencement.  The elderly/low income credit shall be effective upon receipt and 
approval of all required information as identified in the application.  Said credit shall be 
applied to the following month of collection service. 

(d) Term. The term of the elderly/low income credit shall be three years from approval and 
commencement of credit.  Continued eligibility shall be reestablished by application from 
the head of household. 

 
Sec. 66-8--- 66-20. – Reserved. 
 
 



Article II. – ENFORCEMENT 
 
Sec. 66-21. –Responsible agency. 
 
 The Director, city engineer, landfill superintendent, sanitation superintendent, street 
superintendent, or code compliance officers shall investigate complaints or violations of any 
provisions of this article, and, upon finding sufficient evidence that a violation has occurred, are 
authorized to issue warnings that state the particular conditions that must be remedied to be in 
compliance with this Chapter, and, further, may recommend to the City Manager and City 
Attorney the initiation of any available legal or equitable remedy.  The Director may suspend any 
service provided under this Chapter as provided in Section 66-23.  
 
Sec. 66-22. – Summons, Citation, and Penalties for Violations 
 
 (a) In addition to or in lieu of any civil remedy provided for above, it shall be unlawful for 
any person to violate the provisions of this Chapter. Upon conviction for the violation thereof 
each person shall be subject to the punishments allowed under Section 5-3 of the Charter of the 
City of Statesboro, after hearing before the judge of municipal court. 
 
 (b) The code compliance officer is authorized to issue a summons and citations to 
appear in the Municipal Court of Statesboro to any person or entity believed to be in violation of 
any provision of this Chapter.  
 
 (c)  Unless otherwise provided for in the Schedule of Fees adopted, and from time to 
time amended, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro the fine for a first violation of the 
Chapter shall not be less than $110.00 nor more than $550.00.  For a second or subsequent 
violation in any twenty-four (24) month period as measured from the dates of the offenses, the 
fine shall not be less than $250.00 nor more than maximum allowed under Section 5-3 of the 
Charter of the City of Statesboro 
 
Sec. 66-23. – Suspension of service. 
 
 (a)  The Director is authorized to suspend any service provided under this Chapter if a 
person or entity in possession, charge, or control of any building from which garbage, trash or 
other solid waste is accumulated or produced was issued a warning pursuant to Section 66-21 
and the person or entity does not remedy the particular conditions stated in the warning within 
(10) days of the issuance of the warning.   
 
 (b) The Director is authorized to suspend any service provided under this Chapter if a 
person or entity in possession, charge, or control of any building from which garbage, trash or 
other solid waste is accumulated or produced is issued a summons and citation to appear in the 
Municipal Court for violations of this Chapter if the person or entity does not remedy the cited 
violations within (10) days of the issuance of the citation and summons.    
 
 (c) Ten (10) days prior to the suspension of service the Director shall send written notice 
via certified mail return/receipt requested to the address on file with the City for the person or 
entity in possession, charge, or control of any building from which garbage, trash or other solid 
waste is accumulated or produced that all services provided under this Chapter are being 
suspended until either the conditions stated in the warning are remedied, until the cited 



violations in the citation and summons are remedied, or until final adjudication of the citation in 
Municipal Court. 
 
 (d)  Upon receipt of the notice of suspension from the Director, the person or entity in 
possession, charge, or control of any building from which garbage, trash or other solid waste is 
accumulated or produced shall have five (5) days to file a written notice of appeal of the 
suspension of services under this Chapter with the City Clerk.   
 (e)  Upon filing of the notice of appeal a hearing before the City Manager shall be 
scheduled as soon as reasonably possible but not later than five (5) days from the filing of the 
notice of appeal.  The hearing shall be informal, and the City Manager shall hear all evidence 
deemed relevant by the City Manager.  The City Manager is authorized to uphold, reverse, or 
modify any action taken by the Director. 
 
Sec. 66-24 – 66-40.  – Reserved. 
 
 
Article III. – PRE-COLLECTION PRACTICES 
 
Sec. 66-41. – Generally. 
 
 The practices and procedures specified in this article shall be employed by persons in 
the city in order to facilitate the collection of solid wastes. 
 
Sec. 66-42. – Refuse and garbage. 
 
 All refuse shall be placed and maintained in containers as specified in this article.  All 
containers shall be maintained at all times with tight-fitting lids or covers.  All garbage placed in 
containers for collection shall first be drained of all liquids, and shall be wrapped, bagged, or 
enclosed in paper or plastic material. 
 
Sec. 66-43. – Household trash. 
 
 All household trash shall be drained of all liquids prior to its being placed in refuse 
receptacles.  Household trash may be combined with garbage. 
 
Sec. 66-44. – Injurious waste items. 
 
 All waste materials of an injurious nature, such as broken glass, light bulbs, sharp pieces 
of metal, fluorescent tubes and television tubes shall be securely packaged or wrapped (used 
needles shall be placed in hard plastic container with lid and sealed) for the purpose of 
preventing injury to the collection crews or other third parties. 
 
Sec. 66-45. – Hazardous waste and building materials. 
 
 No hazardous waste or building materials shall be placed in any receptacle at any time.  
The city shall not be required to collect any hazardous waste or building material.  All hazardous 
waste shall be secured against the possibility of causing injury to any person and shall not be 
placed on public property or private property without the written consent of the owner thereof. 
 
Sec. 66-46. – Collection limits. 



 
 No residence or business shall place for collection at one time a trash accumulation, 
other than yard trash, with dimensions in excess of four feet in width by eight feet in length by 4 
feet in height (4’x8’x4’) or 400 pounds total.  If the residence or business establishment places 
trash for collection which exceeds these limits, the residence or business shall be assessed an 
additional fee in an amount based on the actual cost of equipment, labor, transport or hauling 
and tippage fees needed for collection and disposal.  Yard trash is exempt from the provisions 
of this section. 
 
Sec. 66-47. – Accessible placement. 
 
 Trash shall be placed in a manner adjacent to a public street or alley easily accessible to 
city sanitation trucks. 
 
Sec. 66-48. – Cardboard box collection. 
 
 All persons, firms, businesses, institutions or corporations shall be required to break 
down any and all cardboard boxes before placing the boxes into collection bins, receptacles, or 
other designated and approved collection points.  To break down a cardboard box, it shall be 
rendered into a flat shape by whatever means necessary so that it no longer retains its three-
dimensional shape and utilizes as little space as possible.  Failure to break down boxes shall 
result in a misdemeanor, refusal by city sanitation officials to remove the garbage, or both. 
 
Sec. 66-49. – Yard trash, tree and shrubbery trimmings. 
 
 Yard trash, tree and shrubbery trimmings separated from other debris shall be neatly 
stacked adjacent to the public street or alley used for road purposes which is nearest the 
property from which removed.  No tree trunks, branches, limbs, or shrubbery larger than six 
inches in diameter, longer than six feet in length, or heavier than 60 pounds shall be collected 
by the city.  Yard trash mixed with other debris will not be picked up.  Trash other than yard 
trash must be in a separate stack.  If a residence or business establishment places trash for 
collection which exceeds these limits, the residence or business shall be in violation of this 
section and shall be assessed an additional fee in the amount based on the actual cost of 
equipment, labor and tippage fees needed for collection or as otherwise provided herein. 
 
Sec. 66-50. – Felled trees. 
 
 The owner of property on which trees are cut down, whether by the owner or another, is 
required to remove promptly following the cutting at the owner’s expense all tree trunks, logs, 
limbs, tops or other debris resulting therefrom, when such materials are clearly visible from any 
public street, alley, sidewalk, lane or path from the property of another that adjoins the property 
on which the materials are located.  Such materials shall not be destroyed or removed by 
burning.  All individuals, firms, businesses, partnerships, proprietorships or corporations 
engaged in the business of trimming or removing trees, shrubbery, or similar growth, who shall 
contract with the property owner, the owner’s agent or occupant to perform services on the 
property shall remove from the property all sawdust, branches, stumps and all portions of the 
byproducts of the services performed, as well as all rubbish associated therewith. 
 
Sec. 66-51. – Trees, shrubbery, branches, etc. 
 



 All individuals, firms, businesses, partnerships, proprietorships or corporations engaged 
in the business of yard maintenance, landscaping, or nursery operation who shall contract with 
the property owner, the owner’s agent or occupant to perform services on the property shall 
remove from the property the byproducts of the services performed which is in excess of the 
provisions of Section 66-49. 
 
Sec. 66-52. – Removal for compensation. 
 
 It shall be unlawful for any individual, firm, partnership, proprietorship or corporation to 
fell or trim trees within the city unless the byproduct from those services is immediately removed 
from the premises and placed or deposited by the contractor in the city designated landfill or 
hauling station.  Compensation shall be interpreted to include receiving as compensation the 
wood, limbs and other residue from such trimming and cutting.  Any form of compensation shall 
place the burden of disposal directly upon the individual or contractor performing the task. 
 
Sec. 66-53. – Leaves. 
 
 Leaves shall be neatly piled free of other debris and placed adjacent to the public street 
or alley used for road purposes which is nearest the property from which removed. 
 
Sec. 66-54. – Household furniture and appliances. 
 
 Upon request, the city shall collect normal and intact household furniture and appliances, 
including sofas, chairs, beds, refrigerators, washers, dryers, hot water heaters and similar items, 
but not including furnaces, from single-family and duplex (two-family) residential structures only.  
Persons requesting this service shall notify the office of the director or his/her designee to 
arrange for collection prior to placement near the road.  The city shall have the right to set and 
collect a fee for this service. 
 
Sec. 66-55. – Prohibited activities. 
 
 The following activities are hereby declared to be unlawful and in violation of this 
chapter: 
 

1) Public streets and private property.  No person shall place any accumulations of refuse, 
trash or other waste in any street, median strip, alley or other public place of travel, nor 
upon any private property, except with the written consent thereof and then only in 
accordance with the provisions of this article. 

2) Blockage of drainage.  At no time shall trash be placed in a manner as to obstruct 
drains, utility meters, walkways or streets.  It shall be unlawful to use brooms, rakes, 
blowers or other sweeping, raking or debris removal tools or equipment so as to sweep, 
rake, blow or otherwise sediment or debris of any kind in or on city streets, walkways, 
drains, pipes or gutters.  It shall be unlawful to place, accumulate or otherwise deposit 
any type of the aforementioned debris or material into a city drain, pipe, gutter or other 
draining conduit or receptacle. 

3) Impairment of sight distance.  At no time shall trash be placed in a manner as to obstruct 
or impair the sight distance of a driver or operator of a vehicle. 

4) Unauthorized storage.  Any accumulation of refuse or trash items on any lot, property, 
premises, public streets, alley or other public or private place not permitted by this 
article, is hereby declared to be a nuisance.  Failure of owner or occupant to remove and 



correct any such accumulation of refuse after appropriate notice from the director shall 
raise the presumption that such person intended to violate this article. 

5) Junk.  It shall be unlawful for any person to place or leave outside any building or 
dwelling, except as specified in section 66-24, any dilapidated furniture, appliance, 
machinery equipment, building material, junked motor vehicle, tires or other items which 
are either in a partially used, wrecked, junked, dismantled or inoperative condition, and 
which are not completely enclosed within a building or dwelling. 

6) Sweeping and blowing.  It shall be unlawful to sweep or blow with a blower or other 
machinery, grass clippings, leaves and other debris onto a city sidewalk, street, or 
gutter. 

7) Dumping.  It shall be unlawful and in violation of this section to dump, place or leave 
bricks, blocks, rocks, lumber, asphalt, cement, concrete, concrete products or waste, 
roofing, sheetrock, leaves, limbs, bushes, trees, roots, dead animals, appliances, 
equipment, bedding, mattresses, furniture, fixtures, clothing, motors, engines’ chemical 
wastes, industrial or commercial waste or rubbish, scrap metal, fence wire, vehicles or 
parts thereof, tires, building materials or supplies, and inorganic solid material of any 
type or kind except as authorized herein. 

8) Fires.  It shall be unlawful and in violation of this chapter to set any fire, to allow a fire to 
burn, or in any other way attempt to damage or destroy a refuse receptacle or collection 
containers provided by the city. 

9) Container of another.  It shall be unlawful and in violation of this chapter for any person 
to dump, place or leave any item at a garbage and/or solid waste collection area or in 
any collection container unless such person has permission of the owner and/or 
occupant of the premises on which the area or container is located. 

10) Billboards.   
a. It shall be unlawful for owners to fail to maintain billboards in a manner that prevents 

loose paper, bills and other litter and debris resulting from the use of such signs and 
billboards.  Any such debris, loose papers, bills and other litter shall be removed by 
the owners or their agents immediately upon accumulation. 

b. Any such item or items which remain on the property of the occupant for a period of 
30 days after notice of violation of this article shall be presumed to be abandoned 
and subject to being removed from the property by the city without further notice.  
The city may charge the owner or occupant a fee for the cost of removing such item 
or items.  This section shall not apply to licensed junk dealers or currently licensed 
establishments engaged in the repair, rebuilding, reconditioning, or salvaging of 
equipment or furniture. 

11) Scavenging.  No person other than the owner thereof or an agent or employee of the 
director shall disturb or interfere with any container used for the purpose of storing 
refuse pending its collection, remove any contents therefrom, or remove such container 
from its collection. 

12) Blocked Dumpster. It shall be unlawful and in violation of this chapter for any person to 
block or impair access to a dumpster or commercial collection container. 

13) Building Materials. It shall be unlawful and in violation of this chapter for any person to 
place building materials in the city right of way. 

 
Sec. 66-56. – Abandonment. 
 
 Any such item or items which remain on the property of the occupant for a period of 30 
days after notice of violation of this article shall be presumed to be abandoned and subject to 
being removed from the property by the city without further notice.  The city may charge the 
owner or occupant of the premises; any unpaid charge for removal may be collected by the city 



clerk in the same manner as delinquent taxes.  This section shall not apply to licensed junk 
dealers or currently licensed establishments engaged in the repair, rebuilding, reconditioning, or 
salvaging of equipment or furniture. 
 
Sec. 66-57--- 66-70. – Reserved. 
 
 
Article IV. – COMMERCIAL ESTABLISHMENTS 
 
Sec. 66-71. – Generally. 
 
 All commercial establishments shall store their refuse in containers, as specified in this 
article, so as to eliminate wind-driven debris and unsightly litter in and about their 
establishments.  Approved methods of containerization shall include refuse receptacles, bulk 
containers and detachable containers.  Any spillage or overflow shall be immediately cleaned up 
by such establishment. 
 
Sec. 66-72. – Loading and unloading areas. 
 
 All loading and unloading areas shall be provided with refuse receptacles for loose 
debris, paper, packaging materials and other trash.  The owner or occupant of the commercial 
establishment shall place a sufficient number of containers in such area to maintain a clean, 
neat and sanitary condition at all times.  The number of such containers to be placed in service 
for a particular establishment shall be set by the director or his/her designated representative.  
The number of such containers to be placed in service for a particular occupant of the premise 
shall insure that all litter is placed in the proper container and the area is kept clean.  If the 
occupant violates this section, collection service may be suspended by the director until such 
time as the owner or occupant of the premises brings such premises into full compliance with 
the provisions of this chapter.   
 
Sec. 66-73. – Construction sites and demolition sites. 
 
 All construction and demolition contractors shall use on-site refuse receptacles, bulk 
waste containers, or detachable containers for loose debris, paper, building material waste, 
scrap building materials and other trash (no hazardous waste shall be deposited in the 
containers) produced by those working at the construction site.  The site shall be kept in a litter-
free condition.  The number of refuse receptacles, bulk containers, or detachable containers 
(not to exceed four (4) total per site) shall be determined by the size of the job.  Receptacles 
and containers must be promptly collected when maximum capacity has been reached.  All 
construction receptacles and containers must be promptly removed upon completion of 
construction.  Dirt, mud, construction materials or other debris deposited upon any public or 
private property belonging to a person other than the owner of the construction site shall be 
promptly removed by the owner or contractor. 
 
Sec. 66-74--- 66-90. – Reserved. 
 
 
Article V. – COLLECTION PRACTICES 
 



Sec. 66-91. – Residential garbage collection. 
 

(a) Garbage and solid waste at residences within the city shall be collected only by 
departments and employees of the city, or pursuant to a contract or franchise issued by 
the city.  Removal by persons for hire or compensation is prohibited. 

(b) Collections from residential premises with a refuse receptacle shall be made once 
weekly, with the exception of holidays or in times when such collection is impossible, 
such as in the event of natural disasters. 

(c) (1)  Resident(s) shall place garbage for curbside pickup in carts provided by the city.  On 
the evening before each day assigned by the city sanitation superintendent for collection 
in the resident’s area, the cart shall be placed at a curbside point designated by city 
sanitation officials no earlier than 6:00 p.m. for pick up the next day.  The cart shall be 
removed from the curbside point by the resident no later than 8:00 a.m. on the day after 
the assigned collection date.  Failure to remove a cart by 8:00 a.m. on the day after the 
assigned collection date shall result in a fine of $10.00 per day until the cart is removed.  
At other times, carts will be stored by the resident(s) where possible in locations not 
visible from the street or road on which the garbage is collected. 
(2)  The city shall initially provide and bear the cost of the first cart for each single-family 
and two-family residence.  In the event the cart is insufficient to contain the garbage for a 
residence, the resident shall bear the cost of placement of an additional cart at the 
residence.  In the event a cart is lost, stolen or abused, the resident shall bear the cost of 
placement of another cart at the residence. 
(3)  In the event the cart is not used for a period of three weeks, then the cart shall be 
removed from the residence.  The resident shall bear the cost of placement of another 
cart at the residence. 
(4)  Persons having physical handicaps which prevent them from placing carts at 
curbsides shall be exempted from the requirement to place the cart at the curbside.  
Such persons shall provide to the city a written statement from a physician which 
validates the existence of such a handicap and shall include their physical address.  The 
other requirements for collection and disposal of garbage contained within this Code will 
nonetheless apply to persons exempted under this subsection. 

(d) Persons required to maintain refuse receptacles and collection containers under this 
chapter shall maintain the containers in a sanitary condition, tightly covered at all times 
other than filling, emptying and cleaning, and free from odor.  Refuse receptacles shall 
be filled in such a manner as to allow pickup by one person.  Refuse receptacles and 
collection containers shall be further maintained so as to prevent the overflow and 
scattering of trash, garbage, refuse, other solid waste, or water/rainwater.  Building 
materials and yard trash shall not be placed within refuse receptacles. 

(e) All apartment buildings or structures containing in excess of six dwelling units per parcel 
are required to use hoist type dumpsters or containers that are compatible for loading by 
mechanical means by garbage and solid waste collection vehicles maintained by the city 
for the accumulation of garbage by such building or structure residents.  Dumpsters shall 
be required to be placed on a concrete pad constructed in accordance with the city 
engineer’s specifications.  For buildings or structures containing more than one but not 
more than six dwelling units per parcel, each occupied dwelling unit, household or 
apartment shall provide, at the customer’s expense, at least one container and shall 
provide additional containers as required by the director or his/her representative.  The 
director or his/her representative shall approve the placement, total quantity, and 
sufficiency of collection containers necessary to adequately serve the establishment.  
Service to such establishments will be provided by a schedule which is maintained and 
provided by the sanitation superintendent. 



 
Sec. 66-92. – Commercial establishments. 
 

(a) Garbage and solid waste at commercial establishments within the city shall be collected 
only by departments and employees of the city, or pursuant to a contract or franchise 
issued by the city.  Removal by persons for hire or compensation is prohibited. 

(b) Collection frequency for businesses and commercial enterprises with collection 
containers shall be established by the user upon application of service.  Collection 
frequency may be amended upon request by the user or as deemed necessary by the 
director or his/her designated representative to prevent spillage or overflow.  In such 
cases where it is determined by the city that amendments to the collection frequency is 
necessary the user shall be notified in writing regarding such changes. 

(c) The director or his/her representative shall approve the placement, total quantity, and 
sufficiency of collection containers necessary to adequately serve the establishment.  
Sufficiency shall be determined at the discretion of the director or his/her representative. 

(d) All commercial buildings or structures containing in excess of four business units per 
parcel or center are required to use hoist type dumpsters or bulk waste containers that 
are compatible for loading by mechanical means by garbage and solid waste collection 
vehicles maintained by the city for the accumulation of garbage by such building or 
structure tenants.  Dumpsters and bulk waste containers shall be required to be placed 
on a concrete pad constructed in accordance with the city engineer’s specifications.  For 
commercial buildings or structures containing no more than four units, each unit shall 
provide, at the customer’s expense, at least one collection container and shall provide 
additional containers as required by the director or his/her representative.  The director 
or his/her representative shall approve the placement, total quantity, and sufficiency of 
collection containers necessary to adequately serve the establishment. 

(e) Persons required to maintain refuse receptacles and collection containers under this 
chapter shall maintain the containers in a sanitary condition, tightly covered at all times 
other than filling, emptying and cleaning, and free from odor.  Refuse receptacles shall 
be filled in such a manner as to allow pickup by one person.  Refuse receptacles and 
collection containers shall be further maintained so as to prevent the overflow and 
scattering of trash, garbage, refuse, other solid waste, or water/rainwater.  Building 
materials and yard trash shall not be placed within refuse receptacles or dumpsters. 

(f) Service to commercial establishments will be provided by a schedule which is provided 
by the sanitation superintendent. 

 
Sec. 66-93. – Industrial waste. 
 
 Industrial waste shall be collected, removed and disposed of by any factory, plant or 
enterprise creating or causing such waste. 
 
Sec. 66-94. – Hazardous waste. 
 
 No hazardous waste shall be placed in any receptacle used for collection of refuse by 
the city.  All hazardous waste shall be collected, removed, and disposed of by the person or 
entity creating or causing such waste. 
 
Sec. 66-95. – Dead animals. 
 



 Small dead animals will be collected by the city during operating hours of the city/county 
transfer station, provided the body is appropriately wrapped and isolated in an area readily 
accessible to the collector.  Owners of large dead animals shall be responsible for their removal 
and disposal. 
 
Sec. 66-96. – Building materials. 
 
 Upon request, the city may collect building materials by bulk waste container or other 
means.  Persons, entities or agents thereof requesting this service shall complete application for 
this service.  The city shall have the right to set and collect a fee for this service. 
 
Sec. 66-97 --- 66-110. – Reserved. 
 
 
Article VI. – SPECIAL SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL  
 
Sec. 66-111. – Contagious disease solid waste. 
 
 The removal of clothing, bedding or other solid waste from some or other places where 
highly infectious diseases have prevailed shall be decontaminated prior to removal under the 
supervision and direction of the county health department.  Such solid waste shall not be placed 
in receptacles or bulk container for the city collection until decontaminated. 
 
Sec. 66-112. – Hypodermic instruments. 
 
 No person shall dispose of or discard any hypodermic needle or any instrument or 
device for making hypodermic injections before first breaking, disassembling, destroying or 
otherwise rendering inoperable and incapable of re-use, such hypodermic syringe, needle, 
instrument or device, and without safeguarding the disposal thereof, by securely placing in 
plastic container with a sealed lid so as to avoid the possibility of causing injury to the collection 
personnel or general public. 
 
Sec. 66-113. – Cardboard boxes, cartons and tires. 
 
 All cardboard boxes, cartons and tires are to be disposed of at designated recycling 
centers.  The person disposing of any such boxes or cartons shall collapse all cardboard boxes 
and cartons. 
 
Sec. 66-114--- 66-130. – Reserved. 
 
 
Article VII. – DISPOSAL SITES 
 
Sec. 66-131. – Use authorized; regulations. 
 
 All domestic and other acceptable refuse shall be delivered and deposited at authorized 
public disposal sites in accordance with the directions and orders of the director or his 
representative in charge of operations, except, however, privately operated sites may be used 
for the sanitary disposal of industrial wastes or other specified waste upon the approval of the 
director and upon the issuance of appropriated disposal permits, as required by the regulations 



of the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, and/or the Federal Environmental Protection 
Agency.  The director or his representative shall be authorized to promulgate appropriate 
regulations requiring disposal site users to classify and separate deposits. 
 
Sec. 66-132. – Designation of sites. 
 
(a) Public sites approved for the disposal of refuse shall be identified by appropriate 

directional signs posted near the roadside and at the location of the city/county sanitary 
landfill or transfer/hauling station. 

(b) Such sites shall be maintained in use until permanently closed, at which time additional 
authorized sites shall be opened and publicized by posting and through public 
advertisement. 

(c) The mayor and city council may restrict certain sites or portions thereof to a specific type 
or types of refuse. 

(d) Commercial collectors, including yard maintenance men, may use the public designated 
sites. 

(e) Residents of the city, other than commercial collectors, may use public sites, in 
accordance with the regulations for the particular site the instruction of the site attendant. 

 
Sec. 66-133. – Operating schedule. 
 
 Authorized public disposal sites shall be operated on a schedule as established by the 
landfill superintendent during the hours designated, acceptable refuse generated in the city shall 
be received for disposal from any resident of the city. 
 
Sec. 66-134. – When use authorized; ownership of waste. 
 
 No person shall enter a disposal site except when an attendant is present and during the  
hours and days prescribed in this article.  Only residents of or businesses with locations in the  
city or Bulloch County shall be allowed to use or dispose of waste at the disposal sites, and only 
waste generated within the city or county will be accepted. 
 
Sec. 66-135. – Classification of waste for disposal. 
 
(a) Domestic refuse.  The following types of waste shall be classed as “domestic refuse” 
 and shall be accepted for disposal:  
 (1) Household garbage. 
    (2) Business/office waste. 
 (3) Yard trash. 
(b) Industrial waste. 

(1) The following types of wastes shall be classed as “industrial waste” and shall not be                    
accepted for disposal. 
      a.     Industrial waste. 
      b.     Hazardous waste. 
(2) Industrial waste may be disposed at the city/county landfill or transfer/hauling station 
according to regulations.  For information of these regulations you may call the landfill 
operator at 764-5279. 

(c) Building materials may be accepted for disposal upon such terms and conditions as may 
be determined by the city and county. 

(d) Materials for recycling shall be separated for storage at each disposal site. 



 
Sec. 66-136. – Permit required for private sites. 
 
 It shall be unlawful for any person to deposit or permit to be deposited on land under his 
ownership and control any refuse without first having obtained a disposal area permit as  
required by any regulation of the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, the Federal  
Environmental Protection Agency and the city. 
 
Sec. 66-137. – General maintenance. 
 
 It shall be the duty and responsibility of the owner of any private disposal site to keep the  
site in an orderly condition and maintained so as not to be a public nuisance or menace to 
public health. 
 
Sec. 66-138. – Right to enter to inspect. 
 

The landfill superintendent or his designee shall have the right to enter a private disposal 
site at any time during normal business hours for the purpose of inspecting the site to determine 
whether or not the site is incompliance with this article and all other pertinent laws and  
regulations of the city. 
 
Sec. 66-139. – Disposal locations. 
 
(a) No person shall dispose of garbage, trash, or other acceptable solid waste at any 

location within the limits of the city except in authorized containers for collection  
by city departments or its contractual assigns in the city/county landfill or transfer/hauling 
station.  Only residents of or businesses with locations in the city or Bulloch County shall 
be allowed to use or dispose of waste at the disposal sites, and only waste generated 
within the city or county will be accepted. 

(b) It shall be unlawful for any person to throw or cast any garbage or solid waste, rubbish, 
trash, filth or litter of any nature into the streets, sidewalks, lanes, squares or 
thoroughfares of the city. 

(c) It shall be unlawful for any person to throw, sweep, cast or otherwise put or place any 
straw, paper, can, bottles, broken glass, decaying vegetables or fruit or other decaying 
vegetation, rubbish, garbage or solid waste on any vacant lot within the limits of the city. 

(d) It shall be unlawful for any person owning or occupying any lot, tract or parcel of land or 
premises within the city to permit the growth thereon of weeds or noxious vegetation to 
such extent that such vegetation constitutes a public health, safety or welfare concern.  

 
Sec. 66-140. – Fees. 
 

For the purposes of this chapter, the principal occupant or head of household in physical 
possession of a residence through ownership or lease shall be responsible for payment of the  
fee.  If an account of service exists with the city, the fee shall be added to and denominated  
separately on monthly account statements. 
 
Sec. 66-141. – Fire hazards prohibited. 
 
(a) It shall be unlawful to place ashes within any building in any box, barrel or other wooden 

vessel or upon any wooden vessel or floor. 



(b) It shall be unlawful to keep, maintain or permit to be kept on any premises within the city 
oily waste or oily rags unless, at all times when not actually in use, such oily waste and 
rags are kept in a metal can or container with a self-closing cover and riveted joints, 
standing on metal legs which raise the bottom of the container at least four inches above 
the floor. 

(c) All owners or occupants of buildings are required to permit the chief or commander of 
the fire department or his designated agent to inspect or to have inspected their building 
or premises to determine compliance with subsections (a) and (b) of this section. 

 
Sec. 66-142. – Transportation of trash, garbage or refuse. 
 
(a) All persons hauling or transporting trash, garbage, refuse or other debris to the city 

landfill or hauling station shall transport same in such a way as to prevent trash, leaves, 
limbs, paper, garbage, refuse or other debris from falling from a vehicle transporting the 
same or from blowing off of the vehicle so as to fall in the public streets of the city or in 
the ditches or yards adjacent to such streets.  Vehicles transporting such materials shall 
have suitable covers, such as a tarp, securely fastened to the vehicle. 

(b) Such material being transported to the city landfill or hauling site shall be packed in the 
vehicle transporting it so that it will not fall off or blow out and shall have suitable covers 
securely fastened to the vehicle so as to prevent littering of the streets and yards of the 
city.  It shall be unlawful and in violation of this chapter for such material to fall off or 
blow out of any vehicle during transportation. 

(c) This section shall not apply to the transportation of poultry, livestock, silage or other feed 
grain used in the feeding of poultry or livestock. 

 
 
Section 2.  Should any section, subsection, or provision of this ordinance be ruled invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, then all other sections, subsections, and provisions of this 
ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 
Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its adoption 
on two separate readings. 
 
Reading:  October 18, 2016 
 
  
 
 
THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

 

_____________________________   ________________________________ 

By:  Jan J. Moore, Mayor    Attest:  Sue Starling, City Clerk 



 
 

  Page 1 

Ordinance #2016-11 

An Ordinance Amending Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances 

WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinances creating certain Authorities, Boards 
and Commissions; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend certain sections of Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 
(Administration) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia to add Division 6 to 
create a Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 

SECTION 1: 

Article 2 (Authorities, Boards and Commissions) of Chapter 2 (Administration)  of the Code of 
Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby amended to add a Division 6 and shall read as 
follows: 

DIVISION 5.  KEEP STATESBORO-BULLOCH BEAUTIFUL ADSIORY BOARD  

Sec. 2-121. Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

Sec. 2-122. Chairman; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings. 

Sec. 2-123. Scope of Authority. 

Secs. 2-124—2-140 Reserved. 

Sec. 2-121. - Establishment; appointment; terms; compensation; removal. 

There is hereby created a board to be known as the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful 
Advisory Board. The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall consist of six (6) 
members who shall be residents of Bulloch County. The Mayor and each City Councilmember 
shall each have authority to appoint one member to the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful 
Advisory Board. The term of office of each appointed member of the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch 
Beautiful Advisory Board shall be two years, and the term shall begin on July 1st, and end at the 
stroke of midnight on June 30th.  The initial term for initial members of the Keep Statesboro-
Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall end on June 30, 2018.  The initial members of the Keep 
Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall be appointed at the time this chapter takes 
effect shall hold office for the balance of their terms then remaining, and their successors shall be 
appointed by the Mayor and each City Councilmember for a term of two years. Vacancies on the 
Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board occurring other than by expiration of term 
shall be filled by an interim appointment for the unexpired term by the Mayor or Councilmember 



 
 

  Page 2 

who appointed the member who vacated the seat.   The Mayor and City Council shall have the 
authority to remove any member of the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board 
appointed by it by a majority vote for cause, on written charges, after a public hearing. All 
members shall serve without compensation.  

Sec. 2-122. - Chairman; rules of procedure and bylaws; meetings; records.  

a. The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall elect a chairman from 
among its members who shall serve for a term of one year and who shall be eligible for 
re-election as chairman.  

b. The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall make its own bylaws and 
rules of procedure and shall determine its time and place of meetings.  

c. The transactions of the Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board are governed 
by the Georgia Open Meetings Act O.C.G.A. §§ 50-14-1 et. seq., and it shall be the joint 
and several responsibility of the members to comply with the Georgia Open Meetings 
Act.   

Sec. 2-123. – Scope of Authority. 

The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful Advisory Board shall have the authority to prepare 
studies and reports for the purpose of informing the governing body, city officials, and city staff 
on policy matters related to implementing the goals of the Keep Georgia Beautiful Foundation 
within the corporate limits of the City of Statesboro.   The Keep Statesboro-Bulloch Beautiful 
Advisory Board shall also work to facilitate awareness and support of the goals of the Keep 
Georgia Beautiful Foundation within the corporate limits of the City of Statesboro.  

Secs. 2-124—2-140 Reserved. 

SECTION 2:  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. 
 
SECTION 3:  This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption by the City 
Council. 
  
SO ORDAINED, this ___day of ____________ 2016 in Statesboro, Georgia.   
 
Reading: October 18, 2016 
     __________________________________ 
     Jan J. Moore, in his capacity as Mayor of 
     Statesboro, Georgia. 
 
     ATTEST: 
 
     ____________________________________ 
     Sue Starling, in her capacity as City Clerk of 
     Statesboro, Georgia. 



INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF BULLOCH 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

 

 THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into this ______day 

of______________________, 2016 by and between the MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF 

STATESBORO, hereinafter known as “City”, a municipal corporation, its assigns and 

successors, hereinafter referred to as “City”, and the DOWNTOWN STATESBORO 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, its assigns and successors, hereinafter known as “DSDA”,  

WHEREAS, Article IX, Section III, Paragraph I of the Constitution of the State of 

Georgia authorizes governmental units and agencies to enter into contracts for a period not 

exceeding fifty (50) years for joint services, for the provision of services, or for the joint or 

separate use of facilities or equipment which the parties are authorized by law to undertake and 

provide; and, 

NOW THEREFORE IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual covenants, obligations and 

promises contained herein, the Parties agree as follows: 

I. THE CITY’S OBLIGATIONS 

 The City shall allow the DSDA the use of one 2004 Ford 150 pick-up truck with VIN 

Number 2FTRX17W24CA29145. Should this particular vehicle be surplused or otherwise 

rendered unusable, the City Manager shall have the authority to authorize the use by the DSDA 

of a substantially similar city vehicle. 

II. THE DSDA’S OBLIGATIONS 

 The DSDA shall only use the above vehicle for purposes directly related to the 

governmental functions performed by the DSDA.  

III. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 



A. LIABILITY. Neither of the Parties to this Intergovernmental Agreement shall be deemed 

to assume any liability for the negligence of the other Party, its officers or employees, nor for 

any defective or dangerous condition of the other Party’s property.     

 

B. NOTICE: Any notice to the other Party required by this Agreement shall, unless waived 

in writing by the Party receiving notice, be by certified mail or statutory overnight delivery. 

Notice to the City of Statesboro shall be served upon the Mayor of the City of Statesboro, with a 

copy to the City Manager and the City Attorney. Notice to the DSDA shall be served upon the 

Executive Director of the DSDA.  

C. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: This Agreement contains the entire agreement and 

understanding between the Parties with regard to the subject matters hereof; and there are no oral 

understandings, terms or conditions, and none of the Parties have relied upon any representation, 

express or implied, not contained herein. All prior negotiations and understandings are merged 

into the Agreement.  

D. RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER AGREEMENTS. The entire agreement between the 

Parties hereto relative to the subject matters hereof is contained in this Agreement. This 

Intergovernmental Agreement is in addition to, and is not intended to replace or substitute for, 

any other agreement between the City and the DSDA. Those other agreements continue in effect 

according to the terms of those agreements. 

E. AMENDMENTS. The terms of this Agreement may not be amended or modified except 

by a subsequent Intergovernmental Agreement approved by each Party. 

F. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM. This Agreement shall take effect as of the date hereof 

and shall continue in effect for exactly fifty (10) years unless sooner terminated by the mutual 

consent of the Parties. 

G. SEVERABILITY. If any of the terms, covenants, conditions or agreements of this 

Agreement for any reason shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, 

such invalidity, illegality , or unenforceability shall not affect any of the other terms, covenants, 



conditions, or agreements of this Agreement, and any terms, covenants, conditions, and 

agreements hereof thereafter shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable terms, 

covenants, conditions, and agreements never were contained herein. 

H. INTERPRETATION. The Parties have each read and fully understand the terms of this 

Agreement, and they have had the opportunity to have this Agreement reviewed by legal 

counsel. The rule of construction providing that ambiguities in an agreement shall be construed 

against the party drafting same shall not apply. 

I. MULTIPLE ORIGINALS. This Agreement is executed in multiple originals; and each 

Party acknowledges receipt of one such original, agrees that the multiple originals hereof are 

identical, and further agrees that any such original shall be admissible in any proceeding, legal or 

otherwise, without the production of any other such original. 

J. FORCE MAJEURE. In case, by reason of Force Majeure, any Party hereto shall be 

rendered unable, wholly or in part, to carry out its obligations under this Agreement, then, if such 

Party shall give notice and full particulars of such Force Majeure in writing to the other Party 

within a reasonable time after occurrence of the event or cause relied on, the obligation of the 

Party giving such notice, so far as it is affected by such Force Majeure shall be suspended during 

the continuance of the inability then claimed, but for no longer period. For purposes of this 

Agreement, the term “Force Majeure” means acts of God, including without limitation floods, 

hurricanes, tornados, washouts, droughts, lightning strikes, fires, civil disturbances, including 

without limitation, strikes, sabotage, terrorism, riots, lockouts, or other industrial disturbances, or 

acts of a public enemy, and governmental actions, including without limitation, orders, 

moratoria, laws, rules, decrees, prohibitions, or judgments and any other event that is beyond the 

control of the Parties to this Agreement and which causes the Party to be unable to fulfill its 

obligations under this Agreement. Any such Party shall endeavor to remove or overcome such 

inability with all reasonable dispatch. The above requirement that any Force Majeure shall be 

remedied with all reasonable dispatch shall not require the settlement of strikes and lockouts 

acceding to the demands of opposing parties, when in the judgment of the Party having the 

difficulty, such settlement would be unfavorable to the Party. 



K. CHOICE OF LAW. This agreement shall be interpreted and governed by the laws of 

the State of Georgia.  

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF STATESBORO 
 

BY:         
  Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

     

    ATTEST BY: ____________________________________ 
      Sue Starling, City Clerk 
Signed, sealed and delivered 
in the presence of: 
 
      
Witness 
 
      
Notary Public 
     DOWNTOWN STATESBORO DEVELOPMENT   
     AUTHORITY 

 
BY:         
 Allen Muldrew, Executive Director 
 

 
Signed, sealed and delivered 
in the presence of: 
 
      
Witness 
 
      
Notary Public 

 


	10-18-2016 Council Agenda
	09-28-2016 Called Council minutes
	10-04-2016 Council minutes
	10-2016 EAGLE CREEK BREWING
	10-2016 SHENANIGANS
	10-2016 Planning and Zoning
	10-2016-09 ORDINANCE 2016-- 125% revisions of elderly low income credit for water sewer
	10-2016-10 Ordinance Revised Solid Waste 125%
	WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating solid waste; and

	10-2016-11  Ordinance Keep Statesboro-Beautiful Advisory Board
	10-2016 Intergovermental Agreement DSDA

